Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1965

J. B. & R. E. Walker, Inc. v. J. Kenneth Thayn dba Thayn Construction Co.: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for an alleged breach of a leasehold agreement and a counterclaim for a similar breach. The Court over defendant's objection granted a hearing on parts of plaintiffs' first Cause of Action under Chapter 33, Title 78, Utah Code Annotated, relating to Declara-

tory Judgments. Defendants alleged that a Declaratory Judgment was not appropriate.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Case was tried to the Court sitting without a jury, the Court denying defendant's objections and granting judgment for plaintiffs that defendant's rights had been terminated, cancelled and annulled to the leasehold agreement (Tr. 43).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the judgment and judgment in his favor, or that failing a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties entered into a leasehold agreement dated April 11, 1964, as represented by two agreements attached to the Complaint (Tr. 9 through 12). One of the instruments contained a prohibition against assignment without lessor's written consent (Tr. 10). Pursuant to this agreement defendant then entered into possession of the premises described in the leasehold agreement and oprated a hot asphalt plant until Novmber 12, 1963, when with the plaintiff's verbal permission (L. 16-L. 30 P. 69, L. 13-L. 30, P. 70) he entered into an agreement with James C. Sumsion (Exhibit P. 1). Sumsion immediately moved his equipment on premises and subsequently commenced operations without objection or incident from

plaintiff until April 9, 1964, when defendant was served with notice alleging termination and rescission of the leasehold agreement (Tr. 13-17). James C. Sumsion remained on premises and is presently operating the premises.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT PARTS OF PLAINTIFFS' FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION WERE APPROPRIATE FOR A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT.

(a) On June 8, 1964, plaintiffs filed a Motion for immediate trial which was heard by Judge Alden Anderson on June 15, 1964 (Tr. 32 and Tr. 36). Because the argument appeared lengthy and because plaintiff did not have witness in Court Judge Anderson assigned the matter to Judge Ellett for hearing and disposition (Tr. 36).

Without giving defendant's counsel any notice and without a hearing plaintiff arranged with Judge Hansen to hear the cause of action without having its motion for immediate trial heard and without having plaintiffs' objections timely filed (Tr. 37 and Tr. 40-41). At the actual trial defendant advised the Court that plaintiffs' motion for an immediate trial and the objections thereto had not been heard. The Court then proceeded to try the case and indicated that it would take under advisement defendant's objections (L. 4-L. 18-P. 61). However, the motion and objections were were never heard and the Court in its order (Tr. 43) cursorily stated that the de-

fendant's objection should be denied. This action was patently arbitrary and denied defendant its right to be heard.

(b) There was no necessity that parts of the First Cause of Action be heard in advance of the entire case.

Mr. Sumsion, who was operating under the lease of the defendant Thayn, was a progressive contractor who was able and did use as much material as did the defendant when he was working alone. (L. 22, Tr. 70, to L. 2 Tr. 71). The plaintiff had a working agreement with Sumsion (L. 21-L. 25, Tr. 84) which is still currently in effect which negates the allegation in plaintiffs' affidavit that he will be irreparably damaged and that he would be deprived of sales opportunities (Tr. 25 and 26).

(c) By hearing only part of the First Cause of Action, the Court prevented the defendant from presenting the plaintiff's breach of the lease and did not terminate the uncertainty or controversy.

Section 78-33-6 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, states:

"The Court may refuse to render or enter a declaratory judgment or decree where such judgment or decree would not terminate the uncertainty or controversy giving rise to the proceeding."

In the Utah case *Gray* v. *Defa*, 103 Ut. 339, the Court in commenting on the above statute observed:

"Borchard in his work on Declaratory Judgments, says that the rule announced by this section

merely embodies the established Anglo-American practice in all urisdictions and indicates both the practical and remedial scope and limitations of the relief, yet the discretion granted, however, wide and unlimited in appearance is a udicial discretion hardened by experience into rule, and its exercise is subject to appellate review. He concludes that when the declaratory judgment will not serve a useful purpose in clarifying and settling the legal issues, or will not terminate and afford relief from the uncertainty, insecurity and controversy giving rise to the proceeding the Court should decline to render the same.''

Granting for the sake of argument that the allegations of plaintiff have some substance, if the Court refuses to hear the defendant's allegations of breach and damages (Tr. 21-24) it cannot as a matter of law conclude that the controversy is terminated. By granting plaintiff udgment there has been little if any of the controversy terminated as it has not touched the main purpose of the contract.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS' ACTION TERMINATED, CANCELLED AND ANNULLED THE RIGHTS OF DEFENDANT TO LEASEHOLD AGREEMENT.

The Court in rendering its finding was rather vague in that it did not specify whether all of the activity of defendant was objectionable or whether it was just one area (Tr. 43). However, plaintiffs' counsel did limit the plaintiff in his presentation to three items of alleged breach:

"The pertinent parts of the leasehold agreement are that it carries the definite statement in Paragraph 8 of non-assignability without a written consent. It also contains certain payments which should be made by the Lessor and is an agreement to designate the occupied area and fence it. Now simply it is upon those items of breach upon which we will predicate the problem and which would be the subect of the declaratory udgment." (L. 24 Tr. 61 to L. 2 Tr. 62)

First of all, in considering these items of breach, it should be noted that plaintiff's only witness was the defendant even though the plaintiff, J. B. Walker was in the courtroom. The defendant's testimony was never contradicted and therefore the plaintiff by failing to take the stand and testify contrary to the defendant, admits and affirms the latter's testimony.

In regard to paragraph 8 of non-assignability of the original lease (Tr. 10) it is obvious that this restriction was waived by the plaintiff. Defendant testified, while sitting in the presence of the plaintiff who did not in any way deny or object, that defendant discussed the idea of Sumsion operating the plant with plaintiff and that the plaintiff assented thereto. (L. 16, Tr. 69, to L. 14, Tr. 71) (L. 29, Tr. 78, to L. e, Tr. 79)

In addition the defendant Thayn, Richard Sumsion and an employee of Sumsion all testified that Sumsion went immediately into possession of the leased property after the agreement was signed November 12, 1963, and that plaintiff made no objection until April 10, 1964 (L. 7, Tr. 73, to L. 20 Tr. 73), (L. 29, Tr. 73, to L. 26, Tr. 74), (L. 1, Tr. 83, to L. 1, Tr. 84) (L. 1, Tr. 87, to L. 19, Tr. 87). The plaintiff not only did not object to Sumsion being on the property and operating under the lease he received money from Sumsion prior to his serving notice on the defendant (L. 19-L. 30, Tr. 83).

The general law relating to waiver of covenants restricting assignment is found in American Jurisprudence as follows:

"Covenants restricting the assignment of leases usually by their terms require the consent of the lessor to an assignment, but regardless of the wording of the covenenant, a breach will not result from an assignment made with the consent of the lessor. Covenants restricting assignments are for the benefit of the lessor and may be waived by him, and since he may waive the restriction entirely, he may waive compliance with particular terms and conditions of the restriction. Even though the covenant requires the written consent of the lessor to an assignment, his oral consent may nevertheless be deemed sufficient on the ground either of waiver or of estoppel. Parol testimony as to the assignor's representations that such consent has been obtained is not inadmissible as varying or contradicting a written instrument. So, if, with knowledge of the assignment, the lessor accepts from the assignee payment of the accruing rents, this is ordinarily, if unexplained, deemed conclusive evidence of a consent to the assignment, or waiver of the necessity for a prior consent, since it is a recognition of the assignee as a tenant." 32 Am. Jur. Sec. 341, Page 303.

With reference to the provision for payments to be made, plaintiffs' counsel indicates in the transcript that lessor should make certain payment (L. 29, Tr. 61). This is apparently a mistake and probably should be interpreted to mean lessee should make payments. The only payments mentioned by plaintiff during the proceeding was an item for taxes in the amount of \$1,054.00 (L. 9, Tr. 64, to L. 29, Tr. 64), (Exhibit P. 2).

From the face of the exhibit it is apparent that the plaintiff had not required payment of taxes as they accrued as his first and only statement dated January 1, 1964, covered a period of time of over three years. This is and of itself indicates that he was waiting for some event prior to submitting a bill. The defendant's unquestioned and unrebutted testimony gives the answer. Simply, that the parties had never agreed upon what part of the plaintiffs' property was necessary for the operation covered by the lease and that defendant had not been in possession of the lease for the period of time covered by the statement of taxes (L. 22, Tr. 76, to L. 25, Tr. 77). How could taxes be apportioned if the parties had not reached an agreement as to the amount of property to be used? The pertinent provision of the lease providing for payment of taxes specifically provides that lessee should only pay "the pro-rata property tax" (Paragraph 3, Tr. 9).

The third and concluding item of plaintiffs' allegation of breach centers around the failure to designate, survey, and fence area needed for the operation covered by the lease. Paragraph 1, Tr. 9, contains the pertinent language covering this problem. "Lessor hereby leases—sufficient property located on the east side of Wasatch Boulevard—for the purpose set forth hereinabove with the further provision that the lessee taking into consideration the requirements necessary, will designate the area needed which area will then be surveyed and the description of said property will be attached hereto and made a part hereof as a supplemental agreement."

While it appears that the Lease requires the lessee to designate the area necessary it must be construed to be a mutual designation of property. However, this language is vague and uncertain as to who has the responsibility of surveying and fencing the property even though defendant has indicated he was willing to survey it. The only testimony offered regarding the drafting of the original leases indicates that plaintiff drafted the documents. (L. 1 to L. 10, Tr. 69)

It is usually the practice of the law to construe any ambiguity or uncertainty most strictly against that party who drew the agreement. However, wherever the responsibility lies, common sense and practice indicates that in order to use another person's property and fence it, there must be an assent and a designation by the owner to the property. It is uncontested that these paries operated for approximately three years without the question of taxes, fences and surveys being raised which certainly raises an inference that both parties assented to the situation until they could mutually designate the area; that is until plaintiff ascertained he could sell the lease (L. 24, Tr. 74).

If defendant had the sole responsibility for the performance of the items mentioned above, and the defendant denies that he does, still the plaintiff after three years of operation without obection is now estopped from precipitously terminating the lease. In any event this type of alleged breach is not of the nature to warrant or justify rescission as is set out in American Jarisprudence 2nd:

"On the other hand, it is not every breach of a contract or failure exactly to perform—certainly not every partial failure to perform — that entitles the other party to rescind. Recission is not permitted for a slight, casual, trivial, or technical breach.

"A breach, to warrant rescission, must be material; a failure to perform, to warrant rescission, must be substantial. In the absence of any specific provision in the contract to the contrary, a beach which goes to only a part of the consideration, which is incidental and subordinate to the main purpose of the contract, and which may be compensated in damages, does not warrant a recision of the contract; the injured party is still bound to perform his part of the agreement, and his only remedy for the breach consists of the damages he has suffered therefrom. A rescission is not warranted by a mere breach of contract not so substantial and fundamental as to defeat the object of the parties in making the agreement. Before partial failure of performance of one party will give the owner the right of rescission, the act failed to be performed must go to the root of the contract, or defeat the objects of the contract, or the failure to perform a part of the contract must be in regard to matters which would render the performance of the remainder a thing different in substantance from that which was contracted for, or it must concern a matter of such importance that the contract would not have been made if the default in that particular had been contemplated or expected. Generally, where a contract is severable or divmisible and the consideration is justly apportioned to a part of the contract, a breach of that part does not destroy the contract in toto, but the other party is nelegated to damages. 17 Am. Jur. 2d Par. 504, Page 982-984."

The defendant has indicated a willingness to pay the taxes, survey the property and even fence the property if the plaintiff will sit down and discuss the area to be used, and apportion the taxes on a fair and equitable basis (L. 22, Tr. 75 to L. 25, Tr. 77).

This area certainly is not the main object of the agreement and even if the alleged breaches were unexplained still they would not defeat the main purpose of the agreement and would not justify rescission or termination of the contract. The object of the agreement between Thayn and plaintiff was the purchase and sale of aggregate for roadbase which is not even mentioned in the plaintiffs' grounds for Declaratory Judgment.

POINT III.

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DEFENDANT AND SUMSION WAS A SUB LEASE AND NOT VIOLATIVE OF PARAGRAPH 8 OF THE LEASE.

Volume 32, Am. Jur., Section 330, states the applicable law as to the distinction between a sub lease and an assignment in reference to a covenant not to assign.

"To establish a breach of a covenant in a lease not to assign the lessor must show that the transaction relied upon constitutes an assignment in law as defined above, . . . he must show that the lessee transferred his entire interest in the demised premises, or a part thereof, for the unexpired term of the original lease, parting with all reversionary interest in respect of the premises An assignment of a lease is distinct from a subletting, and it is well settled that a covenant not to assign is not broken by a mere subletting of the premises. Covenants restricting the right of the lessee to assign his term are strictly construed, and in order to bring the transaction within the operation of such covenant, it must be shown that the thing done falls within its letter, as well as within its spirit and purpose."

Section 314 of 32 Am. Jur. Page 290, states the distinction between subleases and assignments:

"The distinction between an assignment of a lease and the subletting of the premises lies in the quantity of interest that passes by the transfer and not upon the extent of the premises involved. Primarily the test is whether by the transaction the lessee conveys his entire term or retains a reversionary interest however small. If there remains a reversionary interest in the estate conveyed it is a sublease."

The fact that the word "assign" is used in the agreement between defendant Thawn (Exhibit P 1), is no more determinative of the legal effect than the fact that the word "lease" is used therein.

Bedgisoff v. Morgan, 23 Wash. 2d 737, 162 P. 2d 238, holds that whether a written instrument is an as-

signment or a lease must be determined by its legal effect not its form.

In examining paragraphs 1, 2, 3, and 4 of Exhibit P. 1, it is obvious that there is a reversionary interest in the defendant Thayne and that the agreement thus meets the qualification of the legal status of a lease even though the language states that Thayn assigns to Sumsion.

The whole tenor of the agreement is that Exhibit P. 1 is subject to the leasehold agreement which was made part of (Par. 1, Exhibit P. 1) the instrument. That upon failure to make payment, the necessity of ceasing operation by Court order in two years, or the termination of the agreement for any cause the lease would revert to the defendant Thayn.

CONCLUSION

Defendant submits to the Court that the three allegations of breach by the plaintiff have been countered and explained by the argument above. That provision 8 of the lease regarding assignment without written consent was waived. Waived expressly by the plaintiff by orally agreeing to the operation by Sumsion. Waived by passage of time with knowledge of Sumsion's presence and operation on plaintiffs' property and finally by the acceptance of money from Sumsion for the use and delivery of gravel.

In addition the legal form of the agreement is a sublease and not prohibited by the restriction against assignment. The allegation of failure to pay taxes loses its effectiveness when it is found that there has been no designation of what ground is being covered nor pro-rating of taxes as required by the lease and especially when the first request for payment is made nearly three years after the agreement was commenced. This deficiency, together with the surveying and fencing problems, are joint failures or acquiescence by both parties. This action would certainly estop plaintiff from immediately demanding performance without giving notice and without complying himself.

Defendant further contends that it has been deprived of due process of law in that he not been allowed his day in Court on his objections to an immediate trial. That because of this omission the Court deprived itself of information which would have indicated that a declaratory judgment was not proper under the circumstances. That defendant has been prejudiced in a substantial manner.

The defendant therefore respectfully requests that the decision of the lower court be reversed or that the matter be returned to the lower court for a hearing on the necessity of a declaratory judgment and a trial of the entire matter at one hearing if necessary.