1965

J. B. & R. E. Walker, Inc. v. J. Kenneth Thayn dba Thayn Construction Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN SETTING THE FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION FOR TRIAL AS APPROPRIATE FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT IN ADVANCE OF HEARING ON THE OTHER CAUSES OF ACTION.

The Complaint alleges eight causes of action. The first cause alleges the dispute as to whether the leasehold agreement has or has not been terminated by reason of the breaches by defendant and the notice of termination by plaintiff, with defendant remaining in possession by and through his assignee, Sumsion.

The remaining causes of action have to do with responsibility for costs of litigation instituted by neighbors for claimed creation of nuisance, and efforts by the County to abate the operations of defendant under the zoning laws. In addition there were claims for damages for failure to pay for materials delivered.

It is clearly evident that the first cause of action is severable from the others; and there was no reason for tying up this property under a contract that had been terminated by breach and that had resulted so disastrously to the contracting parties, not only in cost of litigation but also in disclosure of contract deficiencies as a basis for a working agreement. Defendant testified (R. 69), that the lease contract was drawn without legal assistance, and it was not adequate in its provisions as to who should bear the burdens of defending nuisance actions instituted by reason of the hot plant operations

of defendant. In characteristic fashion defendant refused to assume the cost of defense of these matters, and plaintiff had no alternative but to defend his right to conduct hot plant operations on his ground.

There were three grounds alleged for rescission about which there was no material dispute: (1) assignment of the contract without written consent; (2) failure of defendant to designate and fence the area occupied; and (3) refusal to pay the taxes on that portion of the tract; all of which were clearly set forth as obligations of the defendant in the contract, and all of which had been violated by defendant.

The complaint was filed May 6, 1964, and on May 26, 1964, defendant obtained an order giving him to and including June 2, 1964, within which to answer; and then he filed only denial of the alleged violations.

Plaintiff thereupon filed an affidavit as to the fact that the denial was sham and untrue, and moved the Court for an order setting the case for immediate trial of the first cause of action. This motion was argued on June 12, 1964. Thereafter the trial was set for July 9, 1964, and then reset for July 21, 1964, before Hon. Stewart M. Hanson.

As soon as defendant received the first notice of setting on July 1, 1964, he immediately filed numerous papers amending his pleadings and setting up many reasons why the trial should not be had. All of these matters were heard by the Court at the time set for

hearing, and the objections were over-ruled and the case was heard. Defendant was given the fullest opportunity to present whatever evidence he had, and defendant's brief does not show any prejudice to defendant. He had had two and a half months to prepare his defense. It is difficult indeed to say that you haven't assigned a lease when the written assignment is before the Court; and it is difficult to show that you have paid the taxes when you have to admit that you haven't; and it is impossible to say that the other fellow is to designate the area and do some fencing when the contract expressly says that you are to do it. Defendant had nothing to go on, and he didn't go anywhere.

This case comes squarely within the provisions of Sec. 78-33-1, Sec. 78-33-2 and 78-33-3 of the Judicial Code relating to Declaratory Judgments. It also comes squarely within the purview of Rules 56 and 57.

Only the wildest imagination would cause an individual to say that a decree declaring a leasehold contract to be terminated is not final as to the existence or non-existence of the document as a binding document.

POINT II

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS' ACTIONS HAD GIVEN PLAINTIFF THE RIGHT TO TERMINATE, CANCEL AND ANNUL THE RIGHTS OF DEFENDANT TO THE LEASEHOLD AGREEMENT.

The Court properly found the lease had been terminated by reason of breaches of the agreement by defend-

ant; and properly held there had been no waiver by plaintiff.

As before stated, plaintiff relied upon three breaches for its right of termination: (1) assignment without written consent; (2) failure to pay taxes; (3) failure to designate the area to be utilized and to fence the same.

The facts were undisputed as to each and all of the breaches. Defendant admitted that he had never had written consent to the assignment; that he had never paid the taxes and that he had never designated the area to be occupied nor fenced the same.

The English language seems to have little or no meaning to defendant. The lease agreement expressly provides in Paragraph 1 that the *lessee* will designate the area needed, have it surveyed, and the area thus described will be added as a supplement to the agreement, which was never done. Paragraph 3 expressly provides that the *lessee* agrees to pay to the lessor the pro-rata of property taxes based upon the ratio of that area to the whole tract. Paragraph 4 expressly provides that the *lessee* will fence the area. The only answer defendant makes to this failure is stated by the attorney for defendant, Mr. Frost, in the following language:

“Yes we will admit that he did not, and we will contend that this is an agreement and obligation of Walker as provided in the agreement.”

Apparently the English language means no more to the attorney for defendant than it does to defendant himself.

On Page 16 of the transcript, Mr. Thayn says the reason he did nothing about fencing was because Mr. Walker was supposed to designate the area.

On the taxes he says the reason he didn't pay the taxes was because the County was supposed to segregate the amounts. On Page 17 he says he didn't make the tax payment because the County hadn't said it was fair. By the simple process of failing to designate the area, he felt entirely relieved from all responsibility to pay taxes on the tract occupied by him, and yet this was the only rental he was supposed to pay aside from the nominal amount of \$1.00 per year, which he didn't pay either. The defendant tried to appear "dumb," somewhat of a country bumpkin who didn't quite understand the meaning of words. His failure to put up any money, even for taxes, while occupying the premises rent free for three (3) years, from April 11, 1961, to the date of termination on April 10, 1964, shows, however, that he was not as dumb as he tried to appear; and in selling his equipment to Sumsion for \$128,000 with \$25,000 down and interest at 5%, shows that he seems to know his finances o.k.

Just before trial defendant abandoned his denials, abandoned his position that the assignment was not the real thing but tentative only, and finally came to rest upon the allegation that plaintiff had waived the alleged breaches.

There was no evidence whatsoever that plaintiff waived the requirement to designate the area or to pay the taxes or to fence it, and the nearest that defendant

came to proving even the slightest semblance of a waiver is contained on Page 69 of the transcript wherein Mr. Thayn testified that sometime prior to the time he made the deal with Mr. Sumsion, he told Mr. Walker that he was getting old and that he would like to get out of hard construction work, and he had talked with Mr. Sumsion, and Mr. Walker thought it would be a good idea (R. 69-70).

He also produced evidence that Mr. Walker knew that Sumsion had gone into possession and that Mr. Walker thereafter made some sales to Sumsion and that Walker made no objection to Mr. Sumsion operating the property (R. 73). However, it then appeared upon cross-examination (R. 78-79) that the agreement between defendant and Sumsion was prepared by the attorneys for the parties, and the following evidence was produced upon cross-examination of Mr. Thayn (R. 78) :

“Q. Did you or anyone else, at that time, advise Mr. Sumsion or any of his attorneys that your original lease with Walker was not assignable unless you got his consent in writing?

“A. I think they were aware of it because —

“Q. Thank you. That answers it. As a matter of fact, Mr. Thayn, at any time, including to the present day, have you ever obtained a consent in writing from the Walkers regarding your right to assign that lease?

“A. Well, I don't know as it has been particularly put that way. We told them they were going up there, and they gave

us an agreement. Don't try to answer me if I am dumb. Let it go that way, but the way you put it isn't the truth."

Mr. Richard Sumsion, called as a witness for defendant, testified that when he made this agreement with Mr. Thayn he read the agreement, that he read the covenant in there that Thayn was not to assign the lease without the written consent of Walker (R. 81); that he definitely understood it (R. 82); that after making his agreement with Thayn he and his attorney came up to the office of the attorney for Walker with the request the Walker approve the assignment of the contract, and that thereafter he received a letter setting forth the reasons why it could not be done. He then made an independent arrangement with Mr. Walker under which he had been receiving and purchasing material pending a settlement of this litigation with Mr. Thayn; that his occupancy of the premises and purchase of materials was under that tentative memorandum, not under the Thayn lease.

It will thus be seen that while defendant quotes law with reference to waiver, his facts do not fit the law; there was no waiver, and the Court found that there was no waiver, and the evidence sustains the finding.

This case come squarely within the provisions of three Utah cases. They represent the law of this case as pronounced by this Court and as followed by the District Court: *Powerine Company vs. Russell's, Inc., et al*, 103 Utah 441, 135 P.2d 906; *Powerine Company vs. Zions Savings Bank & Trust Company*, 106 Utah 384,

148 P.2d 807. In this case the Court restated its findings in the former case in the following language:

“That the lease executed by defendant John H. Russell, leasing certain real property to plaintiff was not assignable, and therefore by assigning such lease plaintiff breached its conditions so that John H. Russell was entitled to rescission.”

To similar effect is the most recent case of *Gates vs. Daines*, 3 Ut.2d 95, ~~291~~²⁹¹ P.2d 458.

In this connection it is very significant that the agreement (Ex. P-1) between Thayn and Sumsion provides in Paragraph 3 that in the event Sumsion is compelled to cease operation in respect to the asphalt hot plant within a period of two years as the result of court order, “Thayn shall move and erect original equipment at his expense to any location in Salt Lake County designated by Sumsion.” This is certainly a most unusual provision to be contained in a contract based upon an assumption that consent has been obtained to assignment of the lease, and that the equipment was to remain on the property during the period of the lease term in accordance with the provisions of the lease from Walker to Thayn. It is more consistent with the idea that the parties knew they were doing something which might or might not be approved or which might or might not result in litigation, and were providing a way out for the parties themselves without regard to Walker or anyone else.

POINT III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN DEFENDANT AND SUMSION WAS AN ASSIGNMENT, NOT A SUB-LEASE.

The agreement on November 12, 1963, between Thayn and Sumison is an assignment, not a sub-lease.

Here again defendant quotes law to the effect that a sub-lease is not a violation of a covenant against assignment, but the facts do not fit the law. Paragraph 8 of the lease forbids "assignment of the lease or *any part thereof* or any of the rights hereunder" without first obtaining the written consent of the lessor. The restriction is broader than ordinary restrictions. Obviously the reason for it was the fact that the lessee was paying little or nothing for the privilege of occupying the premises, and the lessor was reserving to himself the right to determine who would or would not be the occupant, and the conditions under which the occupancy was to be had. It was entirely within the right of Walker to refuse assignment of a lease which had proven so fruitful of litigation with neighbors, the County, and even with the defendant himself. If the clearest English and the most positive obligations with reference to fencing, designation of area, and payment of taxes could not be understood by defendant, and the clearest of language against assignment of the leasehold rights or any part thereof, or any interest therein, could not be comprehended and understood by anyone as successful as Mr. Thayn and as intelligent as his counsel, what then was the use of perpetuating that document by having it assigned to others?

It is little short of an affront to the intelligence of this Court to argue that the following words, "Thayn does by this instrument assign to Sumsion all right, title and interest that he has in said agreements attached as Exhibit 1 and 2 for the remaining portion of the term" does not mean what it says. Nothing whatsoever is reserved to Thayn save and excepting that it is provided in the same paragraph that if Sumsion fails to make payments on the purchase price of equipment he is buying, the leasehold shall revert to Thayn. There was no reversionary interest as referred to in the authorities cited in the brief, nor was the occupancy of the premises by Sumsion to be in any way contingent upon or subject to any supervisory right of Thayn during the lease term. The document was what it states — a complete assignment of the lease and to be absolute and not contingent in any way if Sumsion made the payments for which he was legally obligated. There was no such thing as a reversionary interest as such an interest is known in the law.

This point is raised now for the first time on appeal. Defendant never pleaded that the assignment was in fact a sublease. He denied it existed; then said it was tentative only; and then said it was waived; but he never presented to the Trial Court the proposition that it was in fact a sub-lease. Nevertheless, he was wrong here as he was in the other positions that he took.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff submits to this Court that the matter was properly handled by the District Court, properly decided, and should be affirmed.